

Original Research Article

Relationship between Breakfast and Student Learning Achievement in Cipicung Village, Sumedang Regency, West Java

ABSTRACT

Background: Breakfast is an important factor affecting the concentration and thinking ability of school-age children. Irregularity or the habit of not eating breakfast can hurt students' academic performance. **Aims:** This study aims to determine the relationship between breakfast habits and the educational achievement of 5th-grade students at Pamoyanan Elementary School, Cipicung Village, Sumedang Regency, West Java. **Method:** This study is an analytical observational study with a cross-sectional design. This study aims to see the relationship between independent variables and dependent variables, namely the relationship between breakfast habits and the academic achievement of 5th-grade students at Pamoyanan Elementary School in Cipicung Village, Sumedang Regency, West Java, in the 2023/2024 academic year. The sample consisted of all 35 5th-grade students, who were selected using the total sampling technique. Data were collected through a questionnaire regarding the frequency and habits of breakfast and documentation of report card grades as an indicator of academic achievement. Data analysis was carried out using the chi-square test with a significance level of 0.05. **Results:** The results showed that the majority of students scored in the "Fair" category, with 80.0% of the total students in this category. As many as 20.0% of students were in the "Good" category, where most students who regularly eat breakfast have good academic achievement. Statistical tests showed that there was no significant relationship between breakfast habits and students' academic achievement ($p \geq 0.05$). **Conclusion:** There was no significant relationship between breakfast and students' academic achievement. However, breakfast remains a positive habit that is important to support children's health and readiness to learn in general.

Keywords: academic achievement, breakfast, eating habits, elementary school students, elementary school

1. INTRODUCTION

In the United States, there are approximately 81.5 million students enrolled in the education system. Of these, approximately 38% are in primary education, which includes children aged 5 to 11. Additionally, data shows that approximately 90% of children aged 3–17 are enrolled in formal education, reflecting high levels of participation in the education system. These figures demonstrate the commitment of societies to education and the importance of access to education for young people [1]. In Asia, the percentage of children of primary school age varies across countries, but overall, there is significant progress towards universal enrollment. In East Asia and the Pacific, more than 90% of children are enrolled in primary school. In Japan, approximately 99% of children aged 6–12 are enrolled in primary school, while in South Korea, enrollment rates are nearly 100% for children aged 6–12. In China, approximately 95% of children aged 6–12 are enrolled in primary school, while in India, approximately 96% of children aged 6–14 are enrolled in primary school. In Indonesia, 93% of children aged 7–12

years attend school, and in the Philippines, 92% of children aged 6–11 years are enrolled in primary school [2].

In Indonesia, around 93% of children aged 7-12 years are enrolled in primary school. This figure reflects the government's efforts to improve access to education for children. Although there are challenges in some areas, especially in remote areas, the participation rate in primary education shows a strong commitment to children's education [3][4][5]. School-age children are an important investment for the future of the nation. The quality of the next generation is determined by the quality of today's children, so efforts to improve human resources must start early, be carried out systematically, and sustainably. Optimal child growth and development are highly dependent on good nutritional intake in terms of quality and quantity [6][7][8]. During school, children's eating patterns change significantly. If previously children ate more often with their parents, then when they enter school age, they eat more often at school with their friends. Therefore, parents must continue to monitor their children's energy and nutritional intake regularly so that children can learn well and develop optimally. With good breakfast habits, parents can ensure that their children get nutritious food that supports their daily activities optimally [9][10][11].

Breakfast is an important part of daily nutritional intake, which should include an increase in calories of around 20-35% of the body's daily calorie needs. Ideally, breakfast is consumed at least two hours after waking up, and preferably before 10:00 a.m. However, research shows that many students in Indonesia have problems with concentration. Around 46.2% of students have difficulty focusing on studying, and a large number of students even fall asleep in class during national exams [12][13]. This problem is often related to poor breakfast habits. Many students only drink water before going to school or even skip breakfast altogether. This is often caused by a lack of appetite for breakfast food and a lack of variety in the breakfast menu. The impact is a decrease in students' ability to concentrate during learning, which can hinder their overall learning process [14][15].

Low concentration during learning activities can also be influenced by hunger. Some school children in Indonesia often skip breakfast because their parents are not used to preparing breakfast or lunch. Breakfast itself refers to the first meal consumed in the morning before starting daily activities, which includes the main course and side dishes. Breakfast is the first food intake that enters the body after fasting while sleeping at night. During breakfast, the brain gets another intake of nutrients [16]. A healthy breakfast should meet at least a quarter of the daily nutritional needs. So, at least the breakfast menu should contain carbohydrates, protein, fat, vitamins, minerals, and fiber, as well as enough water to help the digestive process, increase energy, as well as concentration and memory [17][18]. Previous studies have shown that students who regularly eat breakfast tend to have better concentration and higher academic performance compared to those who often skip breakfast. This is because breakfast can increase blood glucose levels, which are important for brain function and cognitive processes. Conversely, students who skip breakfast often experience decreased focus and memory, which can negatively impact their learning outcomes. By understanding the relationship between breakfast habits and academic achievement, it is hoped that effective strategies can be found to improve students' academic performance and support their overall development. This study aims to explore the impact of breakfast habits on students' academic achievement in the village and provide recommendations that can be applied in the local educational environment [19][20]. Therefore, this study is expected to contribute in the form of health information and can also be used as a reference or comparison by other researchers in discussing the importance of breakfast. The purpose of this study was to determine the relationship between breakfast and academic achievement of grade 5 students of SDN Pamoyanan in Cipicung Village, Sumedang Regency, West Java, in the 2023/2024 academic year.

Commented [a1]: This information is not closely related to the research objective. It would be better to replace it with data on breakfast consumption in several countries and then combine it with the situation in Indonesia

2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

Research Design

This study is an analytical observational study with a cross-sectional design. This study aims to see the relationship between independent variables and dependent variables, namely the relationship between breakfast habits and academic achievement of grade 5 students of SDN Pamoyanan in Cipicung Village, Sumedang Regency, West Java, in the 2023/2024 academic year.

2.2. Time and Place of Research Place

The research was conducted at Pamoyanan Elementary School, Jatigede, Sumedang Regency, West Java. Time of Research was conducted in August - September 2024

2.3. Population and Sample

The population in this study was all 5th grade students of Pamoyanan Jatigede Elementary School, Sumedang Regency, West Java. Furthermore, sampling using the total sampling technique obtained a sample size of 35 participants who met the inclusion criteria and were not excluded.

2.4. Research Instruments

Research instruments are tools used to collect data or information that is useful for answering research problems. Instruments as tools at the time of research that use a questionnaire method.

2.5. Data Analysis

Data analysis in this study will be carried out in several stages, namely:

2.5.1. Univariate Analysis

Univariate analysis aims to see the frequency distribution of independent variables and dependent variables. All data from univariate analysis are presented in the form of a frequency distribution table.

2.5.2. Bivariate Analysis

Bivariate analysis is carried out on two variables that are suspected of being related or associated. Analysis of the results of statistical tests using Spearman's Rank test

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. Result

Table 1 is a demographic description of the respondents of this study. The valid and reliable research questionnaire was distributed to 35 respondents, consisting of 13 respondents (37.1%) male and 22 respondents (62.9%) female. From the data obtained, the average age of respondents was 10 to 12 years, with the following distribution: the 10-year age category was 12 respondents (34.3%), the 11-year age category was 11 respondents (62.9%), and the 12-year age category was 1 person (2.9%). Parents' occupations were also asked in the questionnaire, which were divided into the father's occupation and the mother's occupation. The results obtained for the father's occupation category were 6 respondents (17.1%) stated that their father had died, 13 respondents (37.1%) had a father who worked as a farmer, 6 respondents (17.1%) had a father who worked as a trader, 9 respondents (25.7%) had a father who worked as a laborer, and 1 respondent (2.9%) had a father who worked as an employee. Meanwhile, for the category of mother's work, as many as 26 respondents (74.3%) had mothers who acted as housewives, 5 respondents (14.3%) had mothers who worked as traders, 1 respondent (2.9%) had a mother who worked as a household assistant, 1

respondent (2.9%) had a mother who worked as a laborer, and 1 other respondent (2.9%) had a mother who worked as an employee.

Table 1. Demographic Data of Respondents of Grade V Students of Pamoyanan Elementary School

Characteristics	Frequency	Percentage
Age		
10-11 years	34	97.2
11-12 years	23	65.8
12-13 years	1	2.9
Gender		
Male	13	37.1
Female	22	62.9
Father's job		
Farmers	13	37.1
Traders	6	17.1
Laborers	9	25.7
Employees	1	2.9
Not working	6	17.1
Mother's job		
Housewife	26	74.3
Trader	5	14.3
Household assistant	1	2.9
Laborer	1	2.9
Employee	1	2.9

Table 2. Breakfast Pattern of Grade V Students of Pamoyanan Elementary School

Question Items	Frequency	Percentage
Breakfast Frequency / Week		
0-2times/week	6	17.1
3-4 times/week	12	34.3
5-7 times/week	17	48.6
Breakfast Time		
No Breakfast	2	5.7
After 10 am	4	11.4
6-10 am	29	82.9
Breakfast Menu		
Milk / Tea	1	2.9
BRice + Egg + Vegetablesread /	0	0
Cassava / Sweet Potato	34	97.1

Table 3 is data on Optimal Cognitive Performance in Grade V Students of SDN Pamoyanan

Table 3. Distribution of the impact of breakfast on concentration, ease of doing assignments, and ease of understanding lessons in grade V students of SDN Pamoyanan

Question Items	Frequency	Percentage
Breakfast affects concentration		
Never	4	11.4
Sometimes	11	31.4
Always	20	57.2

Breakfast makes it easier to do assignments		
Never	3	8.6
Sometimes	6	17.1
Always	26	74.3
Breakfast makes it easier to understand lessons		
Never	2	5.7
Sometimes	13	37.1
Always	20	57.2

Table 4 shows data on the negative impacts of not eating breakfast on fifth grade students at SDN Pamoyanan.

Table 4. Distribution of the impact of not eating breakfast on drowsiness/tiredness and exam results in grade V students of SDN Pamoyanan

Question Items	Frequency	Percentage
Sleepy / Easily Tired		
Disagree	17	48.6
Agree	5	14.3
Strong Agree	13	37.1
Test Result		
Good	4	11.4
No Change	16	45.7
Bad	15	42.9

Table 5. Student Semester Grades for the 2023/2024 Academic Year

Semester Grades	Frequency	Percentage
Good	7	20
Enough	28	80
Less	0	

Table 6. Cross tabulation of breakfast with respondents' academic achievement

Breakfast Pattern	Academic Achievement Index				Total	
	Enough		Good			
	Frequency	Percentage	Frequency	Percentage	Frequency	Percentage
Less	1	2.9	0	0.0	1	2.9
Enough	3	8.6	1	2.9	4	11.4
Good	24	68.6	6	17.1	30	85.7
Total	28	80.0	7	20.0	35	100

Uji Spearmen Rank: $P = 0.9740$

Commented [a2]: Include the source in each table: for example, self-processed, etc

Discussion

Breakfast Pattern of Grade V Students of Pamoyanan Elementary School

A description of the frequency of respondents' breakfast in one week was obtained. The table shows that 17 respondents (48.6%) are accustomed to having breakfast 5-7 times/week, 12 respondents (34.4%) are accustomed to having breakfast 3-4 times/week, and 6 other respondents (17.1%) are accustomed to not having breakfast or having breakfast only 2 times/week. From the results obtained, there are still many respondents who skip breakfast even though breakfast functions as the main source of energy and nutrition needed to produce optimal learning. In the daily breakfast time table of respondents, 29 respondents (82.9%) have breakfast between 06.00 and 10.00, 4 other respondents (11.4%) have breakfast after

10.00, and 2 respondents (5.7%) do not have breakfast. The breakfast menu table shows that 34 respondents (97.1%) have a breakfast menu in the form of a main menu consisting of rice, eggs, and vegetables, and 1 respondent (2.9%) has a breakfast menu in the form of drinks only, such as milk or tea. From the results obtained, almost all respondents' breakfast menus were main menus that could fulfill energy and nutritional needs to get through the day.

Optimal Cognitive Performance in Grade V Students of SDN Pamoyanan

In the concentration table, a description of the influence of breakfast shows that 20 respondents (57.1%) feel that breakfast always affects concentration, 11 respondents (31.4%) feel that breakfast sometimes affects concentration, and 4 respondents (11.4%) feel that breakfast never affects concentration. Then, a description of the good impact of breakfast is obtained in the form of making it easier to do assignments. The table shows that 26 respondents (74.3%) feel that breakfast always makes it easier for respondents to do the tasks given, 6 respondents (17.1%) feel that sometimes breakfast always makes it easier for respondents to do the tasks given, and 3 respondents (8.6%) feel that breakfast never makes it easier for respondents to do the tasks given. In addition, 20 respondents (57.1%) feel that breakfast always makes it easier to understand learning, 13 respondents (37.1%) feel that sometimes breakfast makes it easier to understand learning, and 2 respondents (5.7%) feel that breakfast never makes it easier to understand learning.

The Negative Impact of Not Having Breakfast on Grade V Students of Pamoyanan Elementary School

The table shows the negative impact of not having breakfast in the form of feeling sleepy or tired easily. The table shows that 13 respondents (37.1%) strongly agree that not having breakfast makes you sleepy and tired easily, 5 respondents (14.3%) agree that not having breakfast makes you sleepy and tired easily, and 17 respondents (48.6%) disagree that not having breakfast makes you sleepy and tired easily. Then in the exam results column if you don't study, 4 respondents (11.4%) choose good, 16 respondents (45.7%) choose No Change and 15 respondents (42.9%) choose the bad option with 15 responses (42.9%). This table provides an overview of the distribution of responses to the exam results held, showing the dominance of negative and neutral responses to the results.

Student Semester Grades for the 2023/2024 Academic Year

Based on the semester assessment, the distribution of learning outcomes of grade 5 students of SDN Pamoyanan shows that the majority of students are in the "Enough" category, with 28 students or 80.0% of the total number of students. Meanwhile, there are 7 students or 20.0% who get grades in the "Good" category. There are no students included in the "Poor" category.

The Relationship between Breakfast and Academic Achievement

Based on the results of the Spearman test, there is no significant relationship between morning habits and academic achievement of 5th grade students at Pamoyanan Elementary School. With a p-value of 0.9740, this result indicates that breakfast habits do not have a significant effect on academic achievement in the data analyzed. This finding is in line with research conducted by Elita E at SDN I Kalirejo, where no correlation was found between breakfast habits and student achievement. It is suspected that other factors that are more dominant influence learning achievement, such as external factors (environment, teaching quality, and community support) and internal factors (genetics, talent, and intelligence of children). However, it is important to note that the effect of breakfast habits on academic achievement may require long-term research, because the effects of good nutritional habits, such as regular breakfast, can accumulate over time and may only be seen in terms of cognitive aspects and academic achievement in a longer period [12]

However, the results of this study contradict the findings of Rismaida et al., who conducted a study on students at SD Negeri 1 Karangasem Surakarta. Found a significant relationship between breakfast habits and student learning achievement. The study showed that breakfast habits have a positive effect on academic achievement, with a p-value of 0.045, which means that there is a meaningful association between the two variables. Rismaida et al. concluded that regular breakfast can improve students' concentration, memory, and learning ability

Commented [a3]: Add literature that supports or explains about breakfast, especially when the main course is consumed, and its relationship to energy and concentration later at school."

Commented [a4]: Provide a brief explanation accompanied by relevant literature regarding the outcomes of students who eat breakfast and its relationship to improved concentration or focus during learning at school."

Commented [a5]: Add literature that briefly explains the related results.

Commented [a6]: Include the source of information

Commented [a7]: Include the source of information

during teaching and learning activities. The results of this study strengthen the view that nutritional intake in the morning, especially through breakfast, plays an important role in supporting children's cognitive activities, which ultimately impacts their academic achievement [5][6][12].

4. CONCLUSION

Based on the results of the study conducted on 5th grade students of Pamoyanan Elementary School in Cipicung Village, Sumedang Regency, West Java, it can be concluded that the majority of students have varied breakfast habits, and most are in the academic achievement category of "Fair." Although descriptively it appears that students who regularly eat breakfast tend to have better academic achievement, the results of statistical analysis using the Spearman test show that there is no significant relationship between breakfast habits and students' academic achievement ($p > 0.05$). Thus, in the context of this study, breakfast habits are not statistically proven to affect students' academic achievement. However, breakfast remains a positive habit that is important to support children's health and readiness to learn in general.

COMPETING INTERESTS DISCLAIMER:

Authors have declared that they have no known competing financial interests OR non-financial interests OR personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

REFERENCES

[1] UNITED STATES - CHILDREN OUT OF SCHOOL (% OF PRIMARY SCHOOL AGE). TRADING ECONOMICS [INTERNET]. 2024 [CITED 2024 SEP 22]; AVAILABLE FROM: [HTTPS://TRADINGECONOMICS.COM/UNITED-](https://tradingeconomics.com/united-)

Commented [a8]: Add a brief explanation that the research results may differ from some previous studies that found a positive relationship

STATES/CHILDREN-OUT-OF-SCHOOL-PERCENT-OF-PRIMARY-SCHOOL-AGE-WB-DATA.HTML

[2] ASIA AND PACIFIC REGIONAL EDUCATION FOR ALL REPORTS. IN 2024 [CITED 2024 SEP 22]. AVAILABLE FROM: [HTTPS://UNESDOC.UNESCO.ORG/ARK:/48223/PF000023515](https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf000023515)

[3] MINISTRY OF EDUCATION AND CULTURE OF THE REPUBLIC OF INDONESIA. EDUCATION STATISTICS. 2023.

[4] UNICEF. EDUCATION IN INDONESIA. IN 2022 [CITED 2024 SEP 22]. AVAILABLE FROM: [HTTPS://WWW.UNICEF.ORG/INDONESIA](https://www.unicef.org/indonesia)

[5] RAHMIWATI A. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BREAKFAST AND LEARNING ACHIEVEMENT OF ELEMENTARY SCHOOL STUDENTS. JOURNAL OF PUBLIC HEALTH SCIENCES. 2014;5(3):159.

[6] YULIA S. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BREAKFAST HABITS AND CONCENTRATION IN ELEMENTARY SCHOOL CHILDREN: LITERATURE REVIEW. INTEGRATED HEALTH JOURNAL. 2024;3(1):22.

[7] RAHMAH M. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BREAKFAST AND CONCENTRATION IN SCHOOL-AGED CHILDREN AT SDN PANGERAN 1 BANJARMASIN. 2018.

[8] ANDERSON R. THE IMPACT OF BREAKFAST ON COGNITIVE FUNCTION. JOURNAL NUTR EDUCATION. 2021;53(3):310–9.

[9] RONNY A, SUYATNO, SYILGA. FACTORS RELATED TO BREAKFAST HABITS AND QUALITY OF FIFTH GRADE STUDENTS AT SDN SENDANGMULYO 04, TEMBALANG DISTRICT, SEMARANG IN 2015. PUBLIC HEALTH JOURNAL. 2015;3(3):247.

[10] AHMAD F, SURYADI T. A PRELIMINARY STUDY ON BREAKFAST HABITS AND ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE IN CIPICUNG. JOURNAL LOCAL EDUC. 2024;8(1):54–67.

[11] MINISTRY OF HEALTH OF THE REPUBLIC OF INDONESIA. BREAKFAST FOR CHILDREN'S HEALTH. MINISTRY OF HEALTH OF THE REPUBLIC OF INDONESIA. 2022;

[12] NAPITUPULU R, MILLENANDO V. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BREAKFAST HABITS AND ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT IN GRADE V STUDENTS OF SDN NEGERI 003 BATAM CITY. JURNAL ILMIAH ZONA PSIKOLOGI [INTERNET]. 2019;1(3):18–26. AVAILABLE FROM: [HTTP://EJURNAL.UNIVBATAM.AC.ID/INDEX.PHP/ZONAPSIKOLOGI](http://ejurnal.univbatam.ac.id/index.php/zonapsikologi)

[13] JIWANING. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BREAKFAST HABITS AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY WITH HEMOGLOBIN LEVELS IN FEMALE ADOLESCENTS

AT SMK MUHAMMADIYAH 2 KARANGANYAR. INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND HEALTH TECHNOLOGY; 2019.

[14] MAULIDYA R. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BREAKFAST AND CONCENTRATION IN SCHOOL-AGE CHILDREN AT SDN PANGERAN 1 BANJARMASIN. BANJARMASIN HEALTH SCIENCES COLLEGE; 2018.

[15] RADONO P. DIFFERENCES IN BREAKFAST CONSUMPTION AND SNACK CONSUMPTION OF ELEMENTARY SCHOOL CHILDREN TOWARDS DROWSINESS AT SD NEGERI 2 KEDUNGWARU TULUNGAGUNG. JOURNAL OF GLOBAL RESEARCH IN PUBLIC HEALTH. 2022;7(1):1–7.

[16] DIAN M, HARIYANI. APPLICATION OF THE SPEARMAN RANK CORRELATION TEST TO DETERMINE THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MATERNAL KNOWLEDGE LEVELS AND SELF-MEDICATION ACTIONS IN TREATING FEVER IN CHILDREN. UNISDA JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCE. 9(1):9–13.

[17] WILA F. DIFFERENCES IN PHYSICAL FITNESS LEVELS IN GROUPS OF CHILDREN AGED 9-12 YEARS WHO HAVE BREAKFAST AND DRINK MILK IN THE MORNING. FK UNIVERSITAS MUHAMMADIYAH YOGYAKARTA; 2015.

[18] GENO. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BREAKFAST AND NUTRITIONAL STATUS WITH LEARNING ACHIEVEMENT OF GRADE IV AND V STUDENTS OF SD NO. 78/III MUKAI HILIR, SIULAK MUKAI DISTRICT, KERINCI REGENCY IN 2019. PADANG HEALTH COLLEGE; 2019.

[19] MINISTRY OF HEALTH OF THE REPUBLIC OF INDONESIA. HEALTHY BREAKFAST GUIDELINES FOR SCHOOL CHILDREN. MINISTRY OF HEALTH OF THE REPUBLIC OF INDONESIA. 2020;

[20] JOHNSON L, ANDERSON P. BREAKFAST CONSUMPTION AND ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT. INT JOURNAL SCHOOL HEALTH. 2021;12(4):223–36.